

Introduction to **Comparative Politics** Political Challenges and Changing Agendas

SEVENTH EDITION

Mark Kesselman Columbia University

Joel Krieger Wellesley College

William A. Joseph Wellesley College

Contributors

Ervand Abrahamian Baruch College

Amrita Basu Amherst College

Joan DeBardeleben Carleton University

Louis De Sipio University of California, Irvine

Shigeko N. Fukai Chiba University

Haruhiro Fukui

University of California, Santa Barbara

Wade Jacoby Brigham Young University

Halbert Jones Saint Anthony's College, University of Oxford

Darren Kew University of Massachusetts, Boston



Atul Kohli Princeton University

Peter Lewis Johns Hopkins University

Tom Lodge University of Limerick

Alfred P. Montero Carleton College

George Ross Université de Montréal

Australia • Brazil • Mexico • Singapore • United Kingdom • United States

Copyright 2016 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s). Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.

This is an electronic version of the print textbook. Due to electronic rights restrictions, some third party content may be suppressed. Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. The publisher reserves the right to remove content from this title at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it. For valuable information on pricing, previous editions, changes to current editions, and alternate formats, please visit <u>www.cengage.com/highered</u> to search by ISBN#, author, title, or keyword for materials in your areas of interest.

Important Notice: Media content referenced within the product description or the product text may not be available in the eBook version.



Introduction to Comparative Politics: Political Challenges and Changing Agendas, Seventh Edition Mark Kesselman, Joel Krieger, William A. Joseph

Product Team Manager: Carolyn Merrill Associate Product Manager: Scott Greenan Managing Developer: Joanne Dauksewicz Content Developer: Kate Scheinman Associate Content Developer: Amy Bither Product Assistant: Abigail Hess Senior Media Developer: Laura Hildebrand Marketing Manager: Valerie Hartman **Content Project Manager: Cathy Brooks** Art Director: Linda May Manufacturing Planner: Fola Orekoya IP Analyst: Alexandra Ricciardi IP Project Manager: Farah Fard Production Service and Compositor: Integra Software Services Pvt. Ltd Text and Cover Designer: Rokusek Design Cover Image: © Ints Vikmanis/

Shutterstock.com

© 2016, 2013, 2010 Cengage Learning

WCN: 02-200-203

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. No part of this work covered by the copyright herein may be reproduced, transmitted, stored, or used in any form or by any means graphic, electronic, or mechanical, including but not limited to photocopying, recording, scanning, digitizing, taping, web distribution, information networks, or information storage and retrieval systems, except as permitted under Section 107 or 108 of the 1976 United States Copyright Act, without the prior written permission of the publisher.

For product information and technology assistance, contact us at Cengage Learning Customer & Sales Support, 1-800-354-9706

For permission to use material from this text or product, submit all requests online at **www.cengage.com/permissions**. Further permissions questions can be emailed to **permissionrequest@cengage.com.**

Library of Congress Control Number: 2014947987

ISBN-13: 978-1-285-86533-1

Cengage Learning

20 Channel Center Street Boston, MA 02210 USA

Cengage Learning is a leading provider of customized learning solutions with office locations around the globe, including Singapore, the United Kingdom, Australia, Mexico, Brazil, and Japan. Locate your local office at **www.cengage.com/global**.

Cengage Learning products are represented in Canada by Nelson Education, Ltd.

To learn more about Cengage Learning Solutions, visit **www.cengage.com**.

Purchase any of our products at your local college store or at our preferred online store **www.cengagebrain.com**.

Printed in the United States of America Print Number: 01 Print Year: 2014

Brief Contents

PART I INTRODUCTION

CHAPTER 1: Introducing Comparative Politics

PART II CONSOLIDATED DEMOCRACIES

CHAPTER 2: Britain	36
CHAPTER 3: France	80
CHAPTER 4: Germany	125
CHAPTER 5: European Union	176
CHAPTER 6: Japan	219
CHAPTER 7: India	264
CHAPTER 8: The United States	312

PART III MIXED SYSTEMS

CHAPTER 9: Brazil	357
CHAPTER 10: Mexico	402
CHAPTER 11: South Africa	447
CHAPTER 12: Nigeria	495
CHAPTER 13: The Russian Federation	544

PART IV AUTHORITARIAN REGIMES

CHAPTER 14: Iran	595
CHAPTER 15: China	641

iii

Copyright 2016 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s). Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.

Copyright 2016 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s). Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.

Preface xxiii

PART I INTRODUCTION

Chapter 1	Introducing Comparative Politics Mark Kesselman, Joel Krieger, and William A. Joseph	
	SECTION 1: The Global Challenge of Comparative Politics Making Sense of Turbulent Times	2 4
	SECTION 2: What—and How—Comparative Politics Compares Level of Analysis Causal Theories	5 7 9
	SECTION 3: Themes for Comparative Analysis	11
	Theme 1: A Globalizing World of States	11
	Theme 2: Governing the Economy	13
	Theme 3: The Democratic Idea	16
	Theme 4: The Politics of Collective Identities	18
	SECTION 4: Classifying Political Systems	20
	SECTION 5: Organization of the Text	23
	1: The Making of the Modern State	24
	2: Political Economy and Development	24
	3: Governance and Policy-Making	24
	4: Representation and Participation	25
	5: Politics in Transition	26

PART II CONSOLIDATED DEMOCRACIES

Chapter 2	Britain	36
-	Joel Krieger	
	SECTION 1: The Making of the Modern British State	37
	Politics in Action	37
	Geographic Setting	38
	Critical Junctures	40
	The Consolidation of the British State 40 The Seventeenth-Century Settlement 41 The Industrial Revolution and the British Empire 42 The British Empire 42 Industrial Change and the Struggle for Voting Rights 42 World Wars, Industrial Strife, and the Depression (1914–1945) 43 Collectivist Consensus (1945–1979) 43 New Labour's Third Way 43 The Conservative–Liberal Coalition 44	
	The Four Themes and Britain	45
	Britain in a Globalized World of States 45	
	Themes and Comparisons	47
	SECTION 2: Political Economy and Development	48
	State and Economy	48
	Social Policy 50	
	Society and Economy	51
	Inequality and Ethnic Minorities 52 Inequality and Women 52	
	Environmental Issues	53
	Britain in the Global Economy	54
	SECTION 3: Governance and Policy-Making	55
	Organization of the State	55
	The Executive	56
	Cabinet Government 56 Bureaucracy and Civil Service 58 Public and Semipublic Institutions 60	
	Other State Institutions	60
	The Military and the Police 60 The Judiciary 61 Subnational Government 61	
	The Policy-Making Process	63
	SECTION 4: Representation and Participation	63
	The Legislature	64
	The House of Commons 64 The Legislative Process 64 The House of Lords 65 Reforms in Behavior 65 Structural Changes: Parliamentary Committees 65	
	Political Parties and the Party System	66
	The Labour Party 66 The Conservative Party 66 Liberal Democrats 67	

	Elections	68
	The Electoral System and the 2010 Election 68 Gender, Ethnicity, and Representation 69 Trends in Electoral Behavior 70	
	Political Culture, Citizenship, and Identity Social Class 71 National Identity 71	70
	Interest Groups, Social Movements, and Protest	72
	The Political Impact of Technology	72
	SECTION 5: British Politics in Transition	73
	Political Challenges and Changing Agendas	73
	Constitutional Reform 74 Identities in Flux 75	
	Youth Politics and the Generational Divide	75
	British Politics in Comparative Perspective	77
	Chapter Summary	78
Chapter 3	France	80
	Mark Kesselman	
	SECTION 1: The Making of the Modern French State	81
	Politics in Action	81
	Geographic Setting	81
	Critical Junctures	84
	Creating Modern France 84 The Ancien Régime 85 The Two Faces of the French Revolution, 1789–1815 85 Many Regimes, Slow Industrialization: 1815–1940 86 Vichy France (1940–1944) and the Fourth Republic (1946–1958) 86 The Fifth Republic (1958 to the Present) 88 2002: The Le Pens' Bombshells 89 France after September 11 90 The French "Non"—Now or Forever? 90	
	The Four Themes and France	90
	France in a Globalized World of States 90 Governing the Economy 91 The Democratic Idea 91 Politics of Collective Identity 91 Themes and Comparisons 91	
	SECTION 2: Political Economy and Development	92
	State and Economy	92
	The New French Revolution 92 French-Style Economic Management 92 France's Economic Miracle 93 French Socialism in Practice—and Conservative Aftermath 93 France's Neoliberal Modernization Strategy 94 Assessing French Economic Performance 94	
	Society and Economy	95
	Labor Relations 96 Inequality and Ethnic Minorities 96 Inequality and Women 96 The Generation Gap 97	
	Environmental Issues	97
	France in the Global Economy	98

	SECTION 3: Governance and Policy-Making	98
	Organization of the State	99
	The Executive	100
	The President 100 The Prime Minister and Government 102 Bureaucracy and Civil Service 103 Public and Semipublic Agencies 104	
	Other State Institutions	104
	The Judiciary 104 The Constitutional Council 104 State Council 105 Subnational Government 105 The Military and the Police 105	
	The Policy-Making Process	106
	SECTION 4: Representation and Participation	106
	The Legislature	106
	How a Bill Becomes a Law 108 Electing the Legislature 108	
	Political Parties and the Party System	109
	The Major Parties 109 Small Parties 110	
	Elections	111
	Political Culture, Citizenship, and Identity	114
	Social Class 114 Ethnicity and Immigration 114 Citizenship and National Identity 115 Gender 116	
	Interest Groups, Social Movements, and Protest	117
	Organized Interests 117 French Trade Unions 117 Social Movements and Protest 118	
	The Political Impact of Technology	118
	SECTION 5: French Politics in Transition	119
	Political Challenges and Changing Agendas	119
	Integrating the Excluded 119 Reshaping the French Social Model? 120 Oui to Roquefort Cheese, Non to Genetically Engineered Products 120 The Challenge of the FN 121 France Falling? 121 France's Relation to Terrorism 122	
	Youth Politics and the Generational Divide	122
	French Politics in Comparative Perspective	122
	Chapter Summary	123
Chapter 4	Germany	125
	Wade Jacoby	
	SECTION 1: The Making of the Modern German State	126
	Politics in Action	126
	Geographic Setting	129
	Critical Junctures	130
	Nationalism and German Unification (1806–1871) 130 The Second Reich (1871–1918) 131 The Weimar Republic (1918–1933) 132 The Third Reich (1933–1945) 133 A Divided Germany (1945–1990) 134 The Challenge of German Unification (1990–2001) 135 Germany after September 11, 2001 136	

Copyright 2016 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s). Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.

The Four Themes and Germany	137
Germany in a Globalized World of States 137	
Themes and Comparisons	139
SECTION 2: Political Economy and Development	139
State and Economy	139
The Social Market Economy 139 Semipublic Institutions 140	
Current Strains on the Social Market Economy 142	
Society and Economy	144
Ethnicity and Economy 145 Gender and Economy 146	440
Environmental Issues	146
Germany in the Global Economy	147
The European Union 147 Germany in a Regional Context 147	
SECTION 3: Governance and Policy-Making	149
Organization of the State	149
Government Institutions 149	. – –
The Executive	150
The President 150 The Chancellor 150 The Cabinet 152 The Bureaucracy 153 Other State Institutions	153
The Military and Police 153 The Judiciary 155 Subnational Government 155	155
The Policy-Making Process	156
SECTION 4: Representation and Participation	157
The Legislature	157
The Bundestag 157 The Bundesrat 159	400
Political Parties and the Party System	160
The Christian Democrats160The Social Democratic Party161The Greens162The Left Party (die Linke)162The Free Democratic Party163	
Elections	163
Political Culture, Citizenship, and Identity	164
Refugees, Immigration, and Migrant Labor 164	
Interest Groups, Social Movements, and Protest	167
The Political Impact of Technology	168
SECTION 5: German Politics in Transition	170
Political Challenges and Changing Agendas	170
Is European Integration Stalled? 171	
Youth Politics and the Generational Divide	172
German Politics in Comparative Perspective	172
Chapter Summary	173

Chapter 5	European Union George Ross	176
	SECTION 1: The Making of the European Union	177
	Politics in Action	177
	Critical Junctures	177
	Themes and Comparisons	180
	SECTION 2: Politics and Economics in the Development of the	
	European Union	182
	State and Economy: EU Economic Governance	182
	Starting in the Cold War 182 Crisis and Renewal: 1970–1993 185	
	Globalization and the EU	186
	The Great Recession and the Eurozone Crisis 188	
	SECTION 3: EU Governance	191
	The Maze of EU Institutions	191
	The European Commission 192 The Council of Ministers 193 The European Council 194 The European Parliament 194 The European Court of Justice 198 Other Institutions 200	
	SECTION 4: The EU and Its Policies	200
	Building a European Market	200
	Competition Policy	202
	Agriculture	203
	Regional Development	204
	The Euro and EMU	205
	Shared Policies	206
	Globalization and Competitiveness 206 Social Policy 208 Environmental Policy 208	
	Intergovernmental Europe	209
	Justice and Home Affairs 210 Foreign and Security Policy 211	
	SECTION 5: Euro-Politics in Transition	215
Chapter 6	Japan	219
-	- Shigeko Fukai and Haruhiro Fukui	
	SECTION 1: The Making of the Modern Japanese State	220
	Politics in Action	220
	Geographic Setting	222

Critical Junctures	224
Pre-Modern Japan 224 Meiji Restoration and Taisho Democracy (1868–1925) 225 Rise and Fall of Militarist Nationalism (1926–1945) 226 The Birth and Evolution of a Pacifist Democracy (1945–Present) 227	
The Four Themes and Japan	229
Japan in a Globalized World of States 229 Governing the Economy 230 The Democratic Idea 230 The Politics of Collective Identity 230	
Themes and Comparisons	231
SECTION 2: Political Economy and Development	231
State and Economy	231
Society and Economy	234
Environmental Issues	236
Japan in the Global Economy	237
SECTION 3: Governance and Policy-Making	239
Organization of the State	239
The Executive	240
The Prime Minister and the Cabinet 240 The National Bureaucracy 241	
Other State Institutions	244
The Military 244 The Judiciary 245 The Police 246 Subnational Government 246	
The Policy-Making Process	247
SECTION 4: Representation and Participation	248
The Legislature	248
Political Parties and the Party System	249
Elections	251
Political Culture, Citizenship, and Identity	253
Interest Groups, Social Movements, and Protest	254
Former Outcaste Class 254 Women's Movement 254 Ethnic Minorities: Ainu, Okinawans, Koreans, and New Immigrants 255 Labor 257	
The Political Impact of Technology	257
SECTION 5: Japanese Politics in Transition	258
Political Challenges and Changing Agendas	259
Youth Politics and the Generational Divide	260
Japanese Politics in Comparative Perspective	261
Chapter Summary	262

Chapter 7	India	264
	Atul Kohli and Amrita Basu	
	SECTION 1: The Making of the Modern Indian State	265
	Politics in Action	265
	Geographic Setting	266
	Critical Junctures	269
	The Colonial Legacy (1757–1947) 270 The Nationalist Movement and Partition (1885–1947) 271 The Nehru Era (1947–1964) 272 The Indira Gandhi Era (1966–1984) 272 Coalition Governments (1989 to the Present) 274 September 11th and Its Aftermath 275	
	The Four Themes and India	276
	India in a Globalized World of States 276 Governing the Economy 276 The Democratic Idea 276 The Politics of Collective Identity 277 Implications for Comparative Politics 277	
	SECTION 2: Political Economy and Development	278
	State and Economy	278
	The Economy after Independence 278 Economic Liberalization 279 Reforms in Agriculture 280	
	Society and Economy	281
	Inequality and Social Welfare Policy 281	
	Environmental Issues	283
	India in the Global Economy	285
	SECTION 3: Governance and Policy-Making	286
	Organization of the State	286
	The Executive	288
	The Prime Minister and Cabinet 288 The Prime Minister 288 The Cabinet 289 The Bureaucracy 289	
	Other State Institutions	290
	The Military and the Police 290 The Judiciary 290 Subnational Government 291	
	The Policy-Making Process	292
	SECTION 4: Representation and Participation	293
	The Legislature	293
	Political Parties and the Party System	294
	The Congress Party295The Janata Party and Janata Dal296The BharatiyaJanata Party (BJP)297The Communist Party of India (CPM)298The AamAdmi Party298	
	Elections	299
	Political Culture, Citizenship, and Identity	300
	Interest Groups, Social Movements, and Protest	300
	The Political Impact of Technology	302

	SECTION 5: Indian Politics in Transition	303
	Political Challenges and Changing Agendas	303
	The Challenge of Ethnic Diversity 304 Political Violence 304 India-Pakistan Tensions 304 Nuclear Weapons 305 Kashmir in a World of States 306 India's Regional Relations 306 Economic Performance 307 International Power and Domestic Prosperity 308 Institutional Decay 308	
	Youth Politics and the Generational Divide	309
	Indian Politics in Comparative Perspective	309
	Chapter Summary	310
Chapter 8	The United States Louis DeSipio	312
	SECTION 1: The Making of the Modern American State	313
	Politics in Action	313
	Geographic Setting	314
	Critical Junctures	316
	The Revolutionary Era (1773–1789) 316 The Civil War and Reconstruction (1861–1876) 318 The New Deal Era (1933–1940) 318 Divided Government, Frequently Shifting Partisan Dominance, and Political Contestation of the Scope of Government (1968 to the Present) 319 September 11, 2001, and Its Aftermath 320	
	The Four Themes and the United States	321
	The United States in a Globalized World of States 321 Governing the Economy 321 The Democratic Idea 321 The Politics of Collective Identity 322	
	Themes and Comparisons	322
	SECTION 2: Political Economy and Development	323
	State and Economy	323
	Society and Economy	325
	Environmental Issues	329
	The United States in the Global Economy	329
	SECTION 3: Governance and Policy-Making	331
	Organization of the State	331
	The Executive	333
	The Presidency 333	
	The Cabinet and the Bureaucracy	335
	Other State Institutions	336
	The Military 336 National Security Agencies 336 The Judiciary 337 Subnational Government 338	
	The Policy-Making Process	339

SECTION 4: Representation and Participation	340
The Legislature	340
Political Parties and the Party System	342
Elections	344
Political Culture, Citizenship, and Identity	346
Interest Groups, Social Movements, and Protest	348
The Political Impact of Technology	349
SECTION 5: United States Politics in Transition	350
Political Challenges and Changing Agendas	350
Youth Politics and the Generational Divide	353
United States Politics in Comparative Perspective	354
Chapter Summary	355

PART III MIXED SYSTEMS

Chapter 9	Brazil	357
	Alfred P. Montero	
	SECTION 1: The Making of the Modern Brazilian State	358
	Politics in Action	358
	Geographic Setting	359
	Critical Junctures	360
	The Brazilian Empire (1822–1889) 360 The Old Republic (1889–1930) 360 The 1930 Revolution 362 The Populist Republic (1945–1964) 363 The Rise of Bureaucratic Authoritarianism (1964–1985) 364 The Transition to Democracy and the First Civilian Governments (1974–2001) 365 Brazil after September 11, 2001 366	
	The Four Themes and Brazil	367
	Brazil in a Globalized World of States 367 Governing the Economy 367 The Democratic Idea 368 The Politics of Collective Identity 368	
	Themes and Comparisons	368
	SECTION 2: Political Economy and Development	369
	State and Economy	369
	The Fiscal System 371 The Problem of Inflation 371	
	Society and Economy	372
	The Welfare System 373 Agrarian Reform 374	
	Environmental Issues	375
	Brazil in the Global Economy	376
	SECTION 3: Governance and Policy-Making	377
	Organization of the State	377

	The Executive The Bureaucracy: State and Semipublic Firms 380	379
	Other State Institutions	381
	The Judiciary 381 Subnational Government 382 The Military and the Police 383	
	The Policy-Making Process	384
	SECTION 4: Representation and Participation	385
	The Legislature	385
	Political Parties and the Party System	386
	Elections	389
	Political Culture, Citizenship, and Identity	390
	Interest Groups, Social Movements, and Protest	392
	The Political Impact of Technology	394
	SECTION 5: Brazilian Politics in Transition	395
	Political Challenges and Changing Agendas	395
	Youth Politics and the Generational Divide	397
	Brazilian Politics in Comparative Perspective	397
	Chapter Summary	399
4.0	NAcycles	400
10	Mexico	402
10	Halbert Jones	402
10		402
10	Halbert Jones	
10	Halbert Jones SECTION 1: The Making of the Modern Mexican State	403
10	Halbert Jones SECTION 1: The Making of the Modern Mexican State Politics in Action	403 403
10	Halbert JonesSECTION 1: The Making of the Modern Mexican StatePolitics in ActionGeographic SettingCritical JuncturesIndependence, Instability, and Dictatorship (1810–1910) 406 The Revolution of 1910and the Sonoran Dynasty (1910–1934) 408 Lázaro Cárdenas, Agrarian Reform, and theWorkers (1934–1940) 409 The Politics of Rapid Development (1940–1982) 410	403 403 404
10	Halbert JonesSECTION 1: The Making of the Modern Mexican StatePolitics in ActionGeographic SettingCritical JuncturesIndependence, Instability, and Dictatorship (1810–1910) 406 The Revolution of 1910and the Sonoran Dynasty (1910–1934) 408 Lázaro Cárdenas, Agrarian Reform, and theWorkers (1934–1940) 409 The Politics of Rapid Development (1940–1982) 410Crisis and Reform (1982–2000) 411 Since 2000: Mexico as a Multiparty Democracy 411	403 403 404 406
10	Halbert Jones SECTION 1: The Making of the Modern Mexican State Politics in Action Geographic Setting Critical Junctures Independence, Instability, and Dictatorship (1810–1910) 406 The Revolution of 1910 and the Sonoran Dynasty (1910–1934) 408 Lázaro Cárdenas, Agrarian Reform, and the Workers (1934–1940) 409 The Politics of Rapid Development (1940–1982) 410 Crisis and Reform (1982–2000) 411 Since 2000: Mexico as a Multiparty Democracy 411 The Four Themes and Mexico Mexico in a Globalized World of States 413 Governing the Economy 413	403 403 404
10	Halbert JonesSECTION 1: The Making of the Modern Mexican StatePolitics in ActionGeographic SettingCritical JuncturesIndependence, Instability, and Dictatorship (1810–1910) 406 The Revolution of 1910and the Sonoran Dynasty (1910–1934) 408 Lázaro Cárdenas, Agrarian Reform, and theWorkers (1934–1940) 409 The Politics of Rapid Development (1940–1982) 410Crisis and Reform (1982–2000) 411 Since 2000: Mexico as a Multiparty Democracy 411The Four Themes and MexicoMexico in a Globalized World of States 413 Governing the Economy 413The Democratic Idea 414 The Politics of Collective Identity 414	403 403 404 406 413
10	Halbert JonesSECTION 1: The Making of the Modern Mexican StatePolitics in ActionGeographic SettingCritical JuncturesIndependence, Instability, and Dictatorship (1810–1910) 406 The Revolution of 1910and the Sonoran Dynasty (1910–1934) 408 Lázaro Cárdenas, Agrarian Reform, and theWorkers (1934–1940) 409 The Politics of Rapid Development (1940–1982) 410Crisis and Reform (1982–2000) 411 Since 2000: Mexico as a Multiparty Democracy 411The Four Themes and MexicoMexico in a Globalized World of States 413 Governing the Economy 413The Democratic Idea 414 The Politics of Collective Identity 414Themes and Comparisons	403 403 404 406 413 415
10	Halbert Jones SECTION 1: The Making of the Modern Mexican State Politics in Action Geographic Setting Critical Junctures Independence, Instability, and Dictatorship (1810–1910) 406 The Revolution of 1910 and the Sonoran Dynasty (1910–1934) 408 Lázaro Cárdenas, Agrarian Reform, and the Workers (1934–1940) 409 The Politics of Rapid Development (1940–1982) 410 Crisis and Reform (1982–2000) 411 Since 2000: Mexico as a Multiparty Democracy 411 The Four Themes and Mexico Mexico in a Globalized World of States 413 Governing the Economy 413 The Democratic Idea 414 The Politics of Collective Identity 414 Themes and Comparisons SECTION 2: Political Economy and Development	403 403 404 406 413 415 415 416
10	Halbert Jones SECTION 1: The Making of the Modern Mexican State Politics in Action Geographic Setting Critical Junctures Independence, Instability, and Dictatorship (1810–1910) 406 The Revolution of 1910 and the Sonoran Dynasty (1910–1934) 408 Lázaro Cárdenas, Agrarian Reform, and the Workers (1934–1940) 409 The Politics of Rapid Development (1940–1982) 410 Crisis and Reform (1982–2000) 411 Since 2000: Mexico as a Multiparty Democracy 411 The Four Themes and Mexico Mexico in a Globalized World of States 413 Governing the Economy 413 The Democratic Idea 414 The Politics of Collective Identity 414 Themes and Comparisons SECTION 2: Political Economy and Development State and Economy	403 403 404 406 413 415
10	Halbert Jones SECTION 1: The Making of the Modern Mexican State Politics in Action Geographic Setting Critical Junctures Independence, Instability, and Dictatorship (1810–1910) 406 The Revolution of 1910 and the Sonoran Dynasty (1910–1934) 408 Lázaro Cárdenas, Agrarian Reform, and the Workers (1934–1940) 409 The Politics of Rapid Development (1940–1982) 410 Crisis and Reform (1982–2000) 411 Since 2000: Mexico as a Multiparty Democracy 411 The Four Themes and Mexico Mexico in a Globalized World of States 413 Governing the Economy 413 The Democratic Idea 414 The Politics of Collective Identity 414 Themes and Comparisons SECTION 2: Political Economy and Development	403 403 404 406 413 415 415 416

Chapter

	Environmental Issues	421
	Mexico in the Global Economy	422
	SECTION 3: Governance and Policy-Making	423
	Organization of the State	423
	The Executive	424
	The President and the Cabinet 424 The Bureaucracy 426 The Parastatal Sector 427	
	Other State Institutions	427
	The Military 427 The Judiciary 428 Subnational Government 429	
	The Policy-Making Process	429
	SECTION 4: Representation and Participation	430
	The Legislature	431
	Political Parties and the Party System	432
	The PRI 433 The PAN 434 The PRD 435 Other Parties 436	
	Elections	436
	Political Culture, Citizenship, and Identity	436
	Interest Groups, Social Movements, and Protest	437
	The Political Impact of Technology	439
	SECTION 5: Mexican Politics in Transition	440
	Political Challenges and Changing Agendas	441
	Youth Politics and the Generational Divide	443
	Mexican Politics in Comparative Perspective	444
	Chapter Summary	444
Chapter 11	South Africa	447
•	Tom Lodge	
	SECTION 1: The Making of the Modern South African State	448
	Politics in Action	448
	Geographic Setting	450
	Critical Junctures	452
	Settlement, 1688–1911 452 Dynamics of the Frontier, 1779–1906 453 Imperialists against Republicans, 1867–1910 453 The Origins of Modern Institutionalized Racism, 1910–1945 453 Apartheid and African Resistance, 1945–1960 454 The Sharpeville Massacre and Grand Apartheid, 1960–1976 454 Generational Revolt and Political Reform, 1976–1990 457 The South African Miracle, 1990–1999 457	
	The Four Themes and South Africa	459
	South Africa in a Globalized World of States 459 Governing the Economy 460 The Democratic Idea 460 Collective Identity 460 Themes and Comparisons 461	

SECTION 2: Political Economy and Development	461
State and Economy	461
Apartheid Economics 461 Liberalization and Deregulation 462	
Society and Economy	463
Black Empowerment 464	
Environmental Issues	465
South Africa in the Global Economy	466
SECTION 3: Governance and Policy-Making	468
Organization of the State	468
The Executive	469
Other State Institutions	472
The Judiciary and the Police 472 National Security Organizations 474 Subnational Government 474	
The Policy-Making Process	476
SECTION 4: Representation and Participation	477
The Legislature	477
Political Parties and the Party System	478
The African National Congress 478 Smaller Parties 479	
Elections	483
Political Culture, Citizenship, and Identity	485
Interest Groups, Social Movements, and Protest	486
The Political Impact of Technology	487
SECTION 5: South African Politics in Transition	488
Political Challenges and Changing Agendas Economic Challenges 490	488
Youth Politics and the Generational Divide	490
South African Politics in Comparative Perspective	491
Chapter Summary	493
Chapter 12 Nigeria	495
Darren Kew and Peter Lewis	455
SECTION 1: The Making of the Modern Nigerian State	498
Politics in Action	498
Geographic Setting	499
Critical Junctures	501
The Precolonial Period (800–1900) 501 Colonial Rule and Its Impact (1860–1945) 503 Divisive Identities: Ethnic Politics under Colonialism (1945–1960)	503

The First Republic (1960–1966) 504 Civil War and Military Rule (1966–1979) 505 The Second and Third Republics, and Predatory Military Rule (1979–1999) 505 The Fourth Republic (1999 to the Present) 506	
The Four Themes and Nigeria	507
Nigeria in a Globalized World of States 507	
Themes and Comparisons	509
SECTION 2: Political Economy and Development	509
State and Economy	510
Origins of Economic Decline 510 From 1985 to the Present: Deepening Economic Crisis and the Search for Solutions 510	
Society and Economy	513
Ethnic and Religious Cleavages 513 Gender Differences 514	
Environmental Issues	514
Nigeria in the Global Economy	515
Nigeria and the Regional Political Economy 515 Nigeria and the Political Economy of the West 516	
SECTION 3: Governance and Policy-Making	517
Organization of the State	517
The National Question and Constitutional Governance 517 Federalism and State Structure 517	
The Executive	519
The Executive under Military Rule 519 The Fourth Republic: The Obasanjo, Yar'Adua, and Jonathan Administrations 519 The Bureaucracy 520 Semipublic Institutions 520 Prebendalism 521	
Other State Institutions	521
The Judiciary 521 State and Local Government 522	
The Policy-Making Process	523
SECTION 4: Representation and Participation	524
The Legislature	524
Political Parties and the Party System	525
Elections	525
Old Roots and New Alignments: The PDP and the Other Parties of the Fourth Republic 528	020
Political Culture, Citizenship, and Identity	530
Modernity versus Traditionalism 530 Religion 531 The Press 531	
Interest Groups, Social Movements, and Protest	532
Labor 532 The Business Community 533 Other Social Groups 533	
The Political Impact of Technology	533

xix

	SECTION 5: Nigerian Politics in Transition	535
	Political Challenges and Changing Agendas	535
	Youth Politics and the Generational Divide	539
	Nigerian Politics in Comparative Perspective	539
	A Globalizing World of States 539 Governing the Economy 540 The Democratic Idea 541 Collective Identities 541	
	Chapter Summary	542
Chapter 13	The Russian Federation	544
	Joan DeBardeleben	
	SECTION 1: The Making of the Modern Russian State	545
	Politics in Action	545
	Geographic Setting	546
	Critical Junctures	548
	The Decline of the Russian Tsarist State and the Founding of the Soviet Union 548The Bolshevik Revolution and the Establishment of Soviet Power (1917–1929) 548The Stalin Revolution (1929–1953) 549Attempts at De-Stalinization (1953–1985) 550Perestroika and Glasnost (1985–1991) 552Collapse of the USSR and the Emergence ofthe Russian Federation (1991 to the Present) 552	
	Themes and Comparisons	554
	SECTION 2: Political Economy and Development	556
	State and Economy	556
	Society and Economy	559
	Environmental Issues	561
	Russia in the Global Economy	562
	SECTION 3: Governance and Policy-Making	564
	Organization of the State	564
	The Executive	566
	The National Bureaucracy 567 Public and Semipublic Institutions 569	
	Other State Institutions	570
	The Judiciary 570 Subnational Governments 570 The Military and Security Organs 572	
	The Policy-Making Process	574
	SECTION 4: Representation and Participation	574
	The Legislature	575
	Political Parties and the Party System	576
	The Dominant Party: United Russia 578 Other Parties Represented in the State Duma (2007–2011) 578 The Liberal Democratic Parties: Marginalized 579	

Elections	580
Political Culture, Citizenship, and Identity	582
Interest Groups, Social Movements, and Protest	583
The Political Impact of Technology	585
SECTION 5: Russian Politics in Transition	586
Political Challenges and Changing Agendas	587
Youth Politics and the Generational Divide	591
Russian Politics in Comparative Perspective	592
Chapter Summary	593

PART IV AUTHORITARIAN REGIMES

Chapter 14	Iran	595
	Ervand Abrahamian	
	SECTION 1: The Making of the Modern Iranian State	596
	Politics in Action	596
	Geographic Setting	597
	Critical Junctures	600
	The Safavids (1501–1722) 600 The Qajars (1794–1925) 601 The Pahlavis (1925–1979) 601 The Islamic Revolution (1979) 603 The Islamic Republic (1979–Present) 605 Iran after 9/11 606	
	The Four Themes and Iran	607
	Iran in a Globalized World of States 607 Governing the Economy 608 The Democratic Idea 608 The Politics of Collective Identity 609	
	Themes and Comparisons	609
	SECTION 2: Political Economy and Development	610
	State and Economy	610
	Iran's Economy under the Islamic Republic 611	
	Society and Economy	612
	Environmental Issues	615
	Iran in the Global Economy	615
	SECTION 3: Governance and Policy-Making	617
	Organization of the State	617
	The Executive	618
	The Leader and Major Organizations of Clerical Power 618 The Government Executive 620 The Bureaucracy 621	

	Other State InstitutionsThe Judiciary 622The Military 623Subnational Government 624Semipublic Institutions 624The Policy-Making Process	622 625
	SECTION 4: Representation and ParticipationThe LegislaturePolitical Parties and the Party SystemThe Liberation Movement 629The National Front 629The Mojahedin 629The Fedayin 629The Tudeh (Party of the Masses) 630	627 628 628
	Elections	630
	Political Culture, Citizenship, and Identity	631
	Interest Groups, Social Movements, and Protest	632
	The Political Impact of Technology	634
	SECTION 5: Iranian Politics in Transition	634
	Political Challenges and Changing Agendas	635
	Youth Politics and the Generational Divide	638
	Iranian Politics in Comparative Perspective Chapter Summary	638 639
	Chapter Summary	033
Chapter 15	China	641
	William A. Joseph	
	SECTION 1: The Making of the Modern Chinese State	642
	Politics in Action	642
	Politics in Action Geographic Setting	642 645
	Geographic Setting Critical Junctures	
	Geographic Setting	645
	Geographic Setting Critical Junctures Warlords, Nationalists, and Communists (1912–1949) 646 Mao Zedong in Power (1949–1976) 647 Deng Xiaoping and the Transformation of Chinese Communism	645
	Geographic SettingCritical JuncturesWarlords, Nationalists, and Communists (1912–1949)646Mao Zedong in Power(1949–1976)647Deng Xiaoping and the Transformation of Chinese Communism(1977–1997)649From Revolutionaries to Technocrats (1997 to the Present)649	645 646
	Geographic Setting Critical Junctures Warlords, Nationalists, and Communists (1912–1949) 646 Mao Zedong in Power (1949–1976) 647 Deng Xiaoping and the Transformation of Chinese Communism (1977–1997) 649 From Revolutionaries to Technocrats (1997 to the Present) 649 The Four Themes and China China in a Globalized World of States 651 Governing the Economy 651	645 646
	Geographic Setting Critical Junctures Warlords, Nationalists, and Communists (1912–1949) 646 Mao Zedong in Power (1949–1976) 647 Deng Xiaoping and the Transformation of Chinese Communism (1977–1997) 649 From Revolutionaries to Technocrats (1997 to the Present) 649 The Four Themes and China China in a Globalized World of States 651 Governing the Economy 651 The Democratic Idea 652 The Politics of Collective Identity 652	645 646 651
	Geographic Setting Critical Junctures Warlords, Nationalists, and Communists (1912–1949) 646 Mao Zedong in Power (1949–1976) 647 Deng Xiaoping and the Transformation of Chinese Communism (1977–1997) 649 From Revolutionaries to Technocrats (1997 to the Present) 649 The Four Themes and China China in a Globalized World of States 651 Governing the Economy 651 The Democratic Idea 652 The Politics of Collective Identity 652 Theme and Comparisons SECTION 2: Political Economy and Development State and Economy	645 646 651 653
	Geographic Setting Critical JuncturesWarlords, Nationalists, and Communists (1912–1949) 646 (1949–1976) 647 (1949–1976) 647 Deng Xiaoping and the Transformation of Chinese Communism (1977–1997) 649 From Revolutionaries to Technocrats (1997 to the Present) 649The Four Themes and ChinaChina in a Globalized World of States 651 The Democratic Idea 652 The Politics of Collective Identity 652Section 2: Political Economy and Development State and Economy China Goes to Market 654	645 646 651 653 653 653
	Geographic Setting Critical Junctures Warlords, Nationalists, and Communists (1912–1949) 646 Mao Zedong in Power (1949–1976) 647 Deng Xiaoping and the Transformation of Chinese Communism (1977–1997) 649 From Revolutionaries to Technocrats (1997 to the Present) 649 The Four Themes and China China in a Globalized World of States 651 Governing the Economy 651 The Democratic Idea 652 The Politics of Collective Identity 652 Theme and Comparisons SECTION 2: Political Economy and Development State and Economy China Goes to Market 654 Remaking the Chinese Countryside 655 Society and Economy	645 646 651 653 653 653 656
	Geographic Setting Critical JuncturesWarlords, Nationalists, and Communists (1912–1949) 646 (1949–1976) 647 (1949–1976) 647 Deng Xiaoping and the Transformation of Chinese Communism (1977–1997) 649 From Revolutionaries to Technocrats (1997 to the Present) 649The Four Themes and ChinaChina in a Globalized World of States 651 The Democratic Idea 652 The Politics of Collective Identity 652Section 2: Political Economy and Development State and Economy China Goes to Market 654	645 646 651 653 653 653

SECTION 3: Governance and Policy-Making	661
Organization of the State	661
The Executive	661
CCP Organization 661 PRC Organization 664	
Other State Institutions	666
The Judiciary 666 Subnational Government 667 The Military, Police, and Internal Security 667	
The Policy-Making Process	668
CECTION & Development of the stand best in the stand	
SECTION 4: Representation and Participation	669
The Legislature	669
Political Parties and the Party System	670
The Chinese Communist Party 670 China's Non-Communist "Democratic Parties" 671	670
Elections	672
Political Culture, Citizenship, and Identity	672
From Communism to Consumerism 672 China's Non-Chinese Citizens 674	675
Interest Groups, Social Movements, and Protest Protest and the Party–State 676	675
The Political Impact of Technology	677
The Folitical impact of Technology	077
SECTION 5: Chinese Politics in Transition	678
Political Challenges and Changing Agendas	678
China and the Democratic Idea 679	
Youth Politics and the Generational Divide	681
Chinese Politics in Comparative Perspective	681
China as a Communist Party–State 681 China as a Developing Country 682	
Chapter Summary	684
Endnotes 687	
$C_{lossamu} = 607$	

Glossary 697 About the Editors and Contributors 709 Index 711

Preface

The prefaces to several previous editions of *Introduction to Comparative Politics* (ICP) used Bob Dylan's words to observe that "the times, they are a-changin'." We reflect on how we began previous editions:

- "Politics throughout the world seems more troubled today than even a few years ago, when celebrations around the globe ushered in the new millennium."
 —Introduction to Comparative Politics, 3rd edition. © 2004.
- In recent years the "world of politics was as turbulent as at any time in recent memory, with clear-cut trends more elusive than ever."

-Introduction to Comparative Politics, 4th edition. © 2007.

- "[We] have witnessed as much—or more—turmoil and uncertainty as the preceding years." —*Introduction to Comparative Politics*, 5th edition. © 2010.
- "The sixth edition of ICP... has been published soon after prodemocracy movements overthrew decades-old dictatorships in Tunisia and Egypt, and repressive regimes unleashed deadly force against similar movements in Algeria, Bahrain, Iran, Libya, Syria, and Yemen."
 —Introduction to Comparative Politics, 6th edition. © 2013

When it comes to the degree of uncertainty, and the range and depth of challenges faced by ordinary citizens who yearn for stability, less strife, and a widening circle of opportunities, the present edition is no different than its predecessors. We write these lines just days after a highly controversial referendum was held in Crimea on the question of seceding from Ukraine. Less than 24 hours later, the Crimean parliament voted for Crimea's annexation by Russia, and Moscow moved quickly to make that a fact. Russian forces had taken control of Crimea just a couple of weeks before following a pro-European revolution in Ukraine had ousted an unpopular pro-Russian president. Russia's intervention in Ukraine raises fears in other parts of the former Soviet Union, particularly in the other states in the Black Sea region—Armenia, Azerbaijan, and Georgia—that their hard-won independence is at risk.

The seventh edition of *Introduction to Comparative Politics* does not try to emulate the coverage of fastbreaking daily events by CNN, Fox News, and Twitter. Its mission is to provide students with a clear and comprehensive guide to these unsettled political times through comparative analysis.

Country-by-Country Approach and Thematic Framework

The methods of comparative analysis come alive as students examine similarities and differences among countries and within and between political systems. Our thematic approach facilitates disciplined analysis of political challenges and changing agendas within each country. Like previous editions of *Introduction to Comparative Politics*, this edition (ICP7) employs a country-by-country approach structured around four core themes:

1. A Globalizing World of States focuses on the importance of state formation, the internal organization of the state, and the impact of the interstate system on political development. We emphasize the interaction of globalization and state power.

- 2. Governing the Economy analyzes state strategies for promoting economic development and competitiveness, emphasizes the crucial role of economic performance in determining a state's political legitimacy, and stresses the interactive effects of economic globalization on domestic politics.
- 3. The Democratic Idea explores the challenges posed to the state by citizens' demands for greater participation and influence in democracies, mixed systems, and authoritarian regimes, and discusses the inevitable gap between the promise of democracy and its imperfect fulfillment.
- 4. The Politics of Collective Identities considers the political consequences of the complex interplay among class, race, ethnicity, gender, religion, and nationality.

Our approach to comparative politics stresses the analysis of each country's politics by applying these four themes within a context shaped by globalization. This approach strikes a balance between a fine-grained analysis of the richness of each country's distinctive pattern of political development and explicit cross-country comparative analysis. In so doing, our text teaches students that the study of comparative politics is defined by a method that investigates similarities and differences in cases and, at the same time, poses and attempts to answer searching questions that really matter in the lives of students as active citizens. These are questions embedded in the thematic scaffolding of ICP.

Five Critical Junctures in Politics

Chapter 1 helps students navigate through the text by introducing the book's thematic framework, which is combined with a thorough analysis of the political institutions and processes of each country in the chapters that follow. It sets the stage and previews the thematic focus by noting:

- 1. 1989, which symbolizes the end of the Cold War, and the eruption of capitalist democracies that transcend East versus West divisions in Europe and much of the world;
- 2. 9/11/01, which reframes globalization, shifting attention away from the development gap and to terrorism, security, and the use of force;
- 3. 2008, a year of intense financial and economic crisis around the world;
- 4. 2011, when prodemocracy movements confronted repressive regimes in North Africa and the Middle East, and Japan was rocked by a severe earthquake, tsunami, and nuclear disaster;
- 5. 2014, when Vladimir Putin's invasion of Ukraine threatened to destabilize the post-Soviet global order and created the very real possibility of a "back to the future" scenario of a new Cold War between Russia and the United States and its European allies.

Chapter 1 also describes the comparative method; presents in some detail our four-theme framework; discusses how we classify the political systems of the countries covered in this book; and provides an overview of the organization of the country chapters.

Consolidated Democracies, Mixed Systems, and Authoritarian Regimes

We classify the thirteen countries in this edition of ICP in three categories:

- Consolidated democracies (Britain, France, Germany, Japan, India, and the United States)
- Mixed systems (Brazil, Mexico, South Africa, Nigeria, and Russia)
- Authoritarian regimes (Iran and China)
- New to this edition is a chapter on the European Union, which, in addition to Britain, France, and Germany, is made up of twenty-five other member states that fall into the category of consolidated democracies.

In the Introduction, we define the three regime types and explain the rationale for the typology. In particular, we warn against assuming that there is a linear movement from authoritarian regimes to mixed systems

xxiv

to consolidated democracies. Democratization is often a protracted process with ambiguous results or reversals, rather than a clearly delineated path toward completion. Thus, we stress that the countries we classify as mixed systems are not riding a historical escalator mechanically leading to their transformation into stable or consolidated democracies. We call attention to "hybrid" regimes, in which some elements of democracy coexist with authoritarian practices.

We also emphasize that the boundaries dividing the three groups are not airtight. For one thing, politics is a moving target. Russia is a good example of a country on the cusp between a mixed system and an authoritarian regime. Furthermore, scholars disagree about the appropriate criteria for classifying regime types as well as about how to classify particular cases. Indeed, instructors may find it fruitful to encourage class discussion of alternative conceptual schemes for classifying groups of countries and how to best characterize the political system of given countries.

NEW! Seventh Edition Content

The content of this edition of ICP has been shaped by our survey of what instructors found appealing about previous editions of the book and their recommended changes. Based on this feedback, we have made the following improvements:

- **NEW!** Shortened country chapters compared to the previous edition. The result is a more streamlined text that strikes a balance between introducing comparative politics to students with little or no background in political science while maintaining coverage of the complexity of institutions, issues, processes, and events.
- **NEW! Focus questions** at the beginning of each major section heading in the country chapters introduce students to the section that follows.
- **NEW! Making Connections** questions at the end of each feature box encourage students to link the topic of the box to the content of the chapter.
- NEW! Where Do You Stand? questions at the end of each section in all chapters encourage students to develop and defend original arguments on controversial issues.
- NEW! Chapter on the European Union (EU). Given the unique importance of the EU in shaping the political and economic life of its member states, ICP7 has added a chapter on the EU. Although the outline of the chapter varies slightly from those for country chapters, we have tried to make the treatment of the EU as close as possible to other chapters. The chapter is written by George Ross, one of the most distinguished specialists on European and EU politics.
- NEW! Subsections on Environmental Issues, The Political Impact of Technology, and Youth Politics and the Generation Gap highlight the particular importance of these issues.
- NEW! The thoroughly updated introduction and country chapters provide analysis of major recent political developments throughout the world. For example, the chapters on France, India, Iran, Japan, Mexico, South Africa, and the United States extensively analyze the implications of recent elections in these countries. The chapter on Russia discusses the crisis in Ukraine and the annexation of Crimea. The China chapter analyzes the rise to power of Xi Jinping, who was installed as head of the Chinese Communist Party in November 2012 and as president of the People's Republic of China in March 2013.

Consistent Country Chapter Organization

At the beginning of each chapter, students will find a map, data on ethnicity, religion, and language specific to that country to aid in comparing countries, and some basic information about the country's political system. Each country chapter consists of five sections:

1. The Making of the Modern State, which begins with an opening vignette that illustrates an important feature of the country's contemporary politics. This is followed by a description of the country's geographic setting, a discussion of the critical junctures in the historical development of the state, and an overview of how the book's four central themes relate to the country. This section concludes by noting the significance of the country for the study of comparative politics.

- 2. Political Economy and Development analyzes the relationship between the state, the impact of economic development on society, current environmental issues, and the country's position in the global economy,
- 3. Governance and Policy-making looks at the general organization of the state, the executive branch, and other state institutions, including the judiciary, subnational levels of government, and the military, police, internal security and other agencies of coercion. This section concludes with a description of the policy-making process.
- 4. **Representation and Participation** covers the country's legislature, party system, elections, political culture, citizenship, national identity, interest groups, social movements, and protest. The final subsection is a new one on the political impact of technology.
- 5. **Politics in Transition** begins by highlighting a recent important event that is influencing the country's politics and then proceeds to an analysis of the major political challenges facing the country. This is followed by the new subsection on youth politics and the generational divide. The chapter ends with some concluding thoughts about politics of the country in comparative perspective.

Special Features That Teach

Maps, tables, charts, photographs, and political cartoons enliven the text and present key information in clear and graphic ways. We have provided a more visually interesting presentation of data in a way that is intended to enhance cross-country comparative analysis. At the end of Chapter 1, various data is presented in a way that facilitates comparisons among the countries covered in this book.

Sidebar boxes in each country chapter highlight three interesting and provocative aspects of politics:

- 1. The Profile feature highlights biographies of important political leaders.
- 2. The Global Connection feature provides links between domestic and international politics.
- 3. The **U.S. Connection** feature compares an important feature of political institutions with its American counterpart or explores a crucial aspect of the country's relationship with the United States.

Key terms are set in boldface and defined in the margin of the page where the term is first introduced and in the complete glossary at the end of the book. The glossary defines many key concepts that are used broadly in comparative politics.

Student Research and Exploration. In Chapter 1, students are enabled to do further research using a sidebar box that discusses the use of the Internet in the study of comparative politics. It notes a variety of websites where students can find more information about the countries covered in the book. Each chapter concludes with a list of suggested readings and websites.

An end-of-chapter Summary highlights the major themes and facts in the chapter.

Supplemental Teaching and Learning Aids and Database Editions

Instructor Companion Website

ISBN: 9781285865416

This Instructor Companion Website is an all-in-one multimedia online resource for class preparation, presentation, and testing. Accessible through www.cengage.com/login with your faculty account, you will find the following available for download: book-specific Microsoft[®] PowerPoint[®] presentations; a Test Bank compatible with multiple learning management systems; an Instructor Manual; Microsoft[®] PowerPoint[®] Image Slides; and a JPEG Image Library.

The Test Bank, offered in Blackboard, Moodle, Desire2Learn, Canvas, and Angel formats, contains Learning Objective–specific multiple-choice and essay questions for each chapter. Import the test bank into your LMS to edit and manage questions, and to create tests.

The Instructor's Manual contains chapter-specific learning objectives, an outline, key terms with definitions, and a chapter summary. Additionally, the Instructor's Manual features a critical thinking question, lecture launching suggestion, and an in-class activity for each learning objective.

The Microsoft[®] PowerPoint[®] presentations are ready-to-use, visual outlines of each chapter. These presentations are easily customized for your lectures and offered along with chapter-specific Microsoft[®] PowerPoint[®] Image Slides and JPEG Image Libraries.

Instant Access Code for Cognero

ISBN: 9781285865478

Cengage Learning Testing Powered by Cognero is a flexible online system that allows you to author, edit, and manage test bank content from multiple Cengage Learning solutions, create multiple test versions in an instant, and deliver tests from your LMS, your classroom, or wherever you want. The test bank for *Introduction to Comparative Politics*, 7th Edition, contains Learning Objective–specific multiple-choice and essay questions for each chapter.

Student Companion Website

ISBN: 9781285865409

This free companion website for *Introduction to Comparative Politics* is accessible through cengagebrain.com and allows students access to chapter-specific interactive learning tools including flashcards, glossaries, and more.

CourseReader 0-30: Comparative Politics

Printed Access Code ISBN: 9781111477608 Instant Access Code ISBN: 9781111477622

CourseReader for Comparative Politics allows you to create your reader, your way, in just minutes. This affordable, fully customizable online reader provides access to thousands of permissions-cleared readings, articles, primary sources, and audio and video selections from the regularly updated Gale research library database. This easy-to-use solution allows you to search for and select just the material you want for your courses. Each selection opens with a descriptive introduction to provide context and concludes with critical-thinking and multiple-choice questions to reinforce key points.

CourseReader is loaded with convenient tools like highlighting, printing, note-taking, and downloadable PDFs and MP3 audio files for each reading. CourseReader is the perfect complement to any Political Science course. It can be bundled with your current textbook, sold alone, or integrated into your learning management system. CourseReader 0-30 allows access to up to 30 selections in the reader. Please contact your Cengage sales representative for details.

As our discussion of the critical junctures of 1989, 9/11/01, 2008, 2011, and 2014 suggests political change is a constant feature of our contemporary world. Not much is certain about what the future will hold—except that the political world will be endlessly fascinating and comparative analysis will continue to be an important tool for trying to make sense of it. Welcome aboard!

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to colleagues who have reviewed and critiqued past and current editions of ICP:

Joseph Ellis, Wingate University Katharina Felts, Loudoun Valley High School Gunther Hega, Western Michigan University Kira Hoilman, Potomac Falls High School Debra Holzhauer, Southeast Missouri State University Anika Leithner, California Polytechnic State University

In addition, we thank the talented and professional staff who helped edit and publish ICP7: Scott Greenan, Associate Product Manager; Kate Scheinman, Senior Content Developer; Carolyn Merrill, Product Team Manager; Laura Hildebrand, Senior Media Developer; Amy Bither, Associate Content Developer; and Abigail Hess, Product Assistant.

> M. K. J. K. W. A. J.

Introducing Comparative Politics

Mark Kesselman, Joel Krieger, and William A. Joseph

© Cengage Learning®

Copyright 2016 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s). Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



V Focus Questions

- What are two examples of how comparison can bring to light features that might otherwise not be observed?
- Describe a discussion in which you used the comparative method to make a point.

Cold War

The hostile relations that prevailed between the United States and the Soviet Union from the late 1940s until the demise of the USSR in 1991.

THE GLOBAL CHALLENGE OF COMPARATIVE POLITICS

It has been said that the personality of students and scholars tends to resemble the characteristics of what they study. We might stretch this observation to speculate that what fascinated you as a child might have attracted you to comparative politics. As a child did you love to observe the shape-shifting images through the lens of a kaleidoscope? If you did, then you are a natural for comparative politics—for you are sure to be fascinated by the endlessly shifting developments of the contemporary world of politics, and the range and depth of challenges faced by political elites and ordinary citizens around the world.

As a subject for study within political science, comparative politics is the only subfield within political science that defines a method in its name. Comparative politics is both a subject matter and a method of analysis. As a subject matter it studies the politics of your own and other countries and peoples by analyzing patterns of similarity and difference, primarily at the national (country) level.

The drumbeat of politics goes on and on, but as the French say, the more things change, the more they stay the same.

The current era of politics remains a combustible and volatile mix in which uncertainty alternates with stability, and movements for peace and justice confront demonic forces that often divide societies along every axis of collective identities and divisions.

- Young people desperate for jobs and educational opportunity sometimes sinking together with—and sometimes pitted against—middle-aged job-holders and pensioners are burdened by what feels like perpetual austerity, gross inequality, and a loss of faith that things will improve.
- Ordinary citizens in every corner of the globe, from Occupy Wall Street activists in the United States to people in authoritarian regimes throughout the world, demanding democratic governments and the chance to enjoy the fruits of liberty.
- Ethnic, racial, and national tensions enflamed by hard times and a tightly integrated globalized global order, strain national unity—a precious and increasingly rare commodity.

Like the Internet technology that speeds up and transforms our lives, creates vast far-flung social networks, and makes possible the cell phone images and messages that flash instantly around the globe—and partly as a result of this technology—the political world is changing rapidly too.

In a quarter century, we have witnessed the collapse of the Berlin Wall in 1989, which ushered in the end of the **Cold War** era; the attack on the World Trade Center towers in 2001, ushering in a new era of global insecurity in the face of mounting terrorism; and the Great Recession of 2008, which threw the global economy into a tailspin, heightened political conflict, and widespread anxiety about the future. More recently, we have witnessed bellicose rhetoric from Russian president Vladimir Putin, backed by military takeover of the Crimea, which prompted Western countries to expel Russia from the Group of 8 (G-8)—an exclusive club of the eight most industrialized nations in the world: Canada, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Russia, the United Kingdom, and the United States. Despite overheated rhetoric, we are not on the precipice of a new Cold War—a nuclear confrontation akin to the Cuban missile crisis is unthinkable; and the financial integration of a globalizing world mitigates the likelihood of increasing hostility between Russia and the West.



Russian president, Vladimir Putin (seated second on right), along with Crimean officials, signs the treaty of annexation in Moscow on March 18, 2014. The agreement made the former Ukrainian territory part of the Russian Federation. Anadolu Agency/Getty Images

While the changes that have occurred in the past quarter century are momentous, they were not unique in magnitude. They were preceded by other—even more momentous—changes, notably the two world wars of the twentieth century. And they will doubtless be followed by other momentous changes in the not too distant future. How can we make sense of the bewildering march of world history? Our aim in *Introduction to Comparative Politics* is to provide the tools to help bring order out of the apparent chaos of kaleidoscopic political change.

Introduction to Comparative Politics studies how different countries both shape and are shaped by the world order created by watershed events such as those that occurred in 1989, 2001, 2008, 2011, and 2014. Each of these dates describes a particularly important moment—what we call a **critical juncture**—that helps define key transitional moments.

Chapter 1 helps students navigate through the text by introducing the book's thematic framework, which is combined with a thorough analysis of the political institutions and processes of each country. It sets the stage and previews the thematic focus by noting five important critical junctures in recent history.

- 1. 1989, which symbolizes the end of the cold war, and a wave of capitalist democracies that replaced the former East versus West divisions in Europe and much of the world;
- 2. September 11, 2001, which reframes globalization, shifting attention away from the development gap to terrorism, security, and the use of force;
- 3. 2008, a year that ushered in intense financial and economic crisis around the world;
- 4. 2011, when pro-democracy movements toppled repressive regimes in North Africa and the Middle East, and Japan was rocked by a severe earthquake, tsunami, and nuclear disaster;
- 5. 2014, when a resurgent Russia, under the increasingly authoritarian leadership of Vladimir Putin, annexed the Crimea and violated the sovereignty of Ukraine.

critical juncture

An important historical moment when political actors make critical choices, which shape institutions and future outcomes.

3

Making Sense of Turbulent Times

The flash of newspaper headlines, television sound bites, and endless tweets can make politics look overwhelming and chaotic. Through the study of comparative politics, we can better understand a rapidly changing world. Political analysis involves more than blogging, talking head debates, or Monday-morning quarterbacking. It requires both a longer historical context and a framework for understanding unfolding developments.

This book describes and analyzes government institutions, policy-making processes, and other key aspects of politics in a wide range of countries. By using a framework that facilitates analyzing and comparing similarities and differences in a representative sample of countries, we can understand longer-term causes of political changes and continuities within nations. Each chapter explores a country's political development by reference to four themes that are central for understanding politics in today's world:

- *The Globalizing World of States:* the historical formation, internal organization, and interaction of states within the international order
- Governing the Economy: the role of the state in economic management
- *The Democratic Idea*: the spread of democracy and the challenges of democratization
- *The Politics of Collective Identities:* the sources and political impact of diverse collective identities, including class, gender, ethnicity, nationality, and religion

These themes, discussed below, help us make political sense of both stable and tumultuous times.

The contemporary period presents an extraordinary challenge to those who study comparative politics, but the study of comparative politics also provides a unique opportunity for understanding this uncertain era. In order to appreciate the complexity of politics in countries around the world, we must look beyond any single national perspective. Today, business and trade, information technology, mass communications and culture, immigration and travel, as well as politics, forge deep connections—as well as deep divisions—among people worldwide. We urgently need a global and comparative perspective as we explore the politics of different countries and their interaction and interdependence with one another.

There is an added benefit of studying comparative politics: by comparing political institutions, values, and processes in countries around the world, the student of comparative politics acquires analytical skills that can also be used at home. After you study comparative politics, you begin to think comparatively. As comparison becomes second nature, we hope that you will look at the politics of your own country differently, with a wider and deeper, more analytical, focus that will inspire new reflections, interpretations, and insights. The contemporary world provides a fascinating laboratory for the study of comparative politics. We hope that you share our sense of excitement in the challenging effort to understand the complex and evershifting terrain of contemporary politics throughout the world.

Where Do You Stand?

There are more than 200 countries in the world: is it time for other countries to take on more of the burdens of global leadership that the United States has shouldered since the end of World War II?

How do you think the study of comparative politics will change the way you understand the United States—or whatever country you call home?

collective identities

The groups with which people identify, including gender, class, race, region, and religion, and which are the "building blocks" for social and political action.

Copyright 2016 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s). Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.

WHAT—AND HOW—COMPARATIVE POLITICS COMPARES

To "compare and contrast" is one of the most common human mental exercises, whether in the classroom study of literature, politics, or animal behavior—or in selecting dorm rooms or arguing with friends about your favorite movie. In the observation of politics, the use of comparisons is very old, dating in the Western world from the ancient Greek philosopher, Aristotle, who analyzed and compared the city-states of Greece in the fourth century BCE according to whether they were ruled by a single individual, a few people, or all citizens. The modern study of comparative politics refines and systematizes this age-old practice of evaluating some features of country X's politics by comparing it to the same features of country Y's politics.

Comparative politics is a subfield within the academic discipline of political science as well as a method or approach to the study of politics.¹ The subject matter of comparative politics is the domestic politics of countries. Within the discipline of political science, comparative politics is one of four areas of specialization. In addition to comparative politics, most political science (or government) departments in U.S. colleges and universities include courses in political theory, international relations, and American politics.

Because it is widely believed that students living in the United States should study the politics of their own country in depth, American politics is usually treated as a separate subfield of political science. The pattern of separating the study of politics at home and abroad is also common elsewhere, so students in Canada study Canadian politics as a distinct specialty, and Japanese students master Japanese politics.

However, there is no logical reason why study of the United States should not be included within the field of comparative politics—and good reason to do so. Comparative study can make it easier to recognize what is distinctive about the United States and what features it shares with some other countries. This is why we have included a chapter on the United States in this book.

Special mention should be made of the distinction between comparative politics and international relations. Comparative politics involves comparing domestic political institutions, processes, policies, conflicts, and attitudes in different countries; international relations involves studying the foreign policies of and interactions among countries, the role of international organizations such as the United Nations, and the growing influence of global actors, from multinational corporations to international human rights advocates to terrorist networks. In a globalized world, however, domestic and international politics routinely spill over into one another, so the distinction between the two fields is somewhat blurry. Courses in international relations nowadays often integrate a concern with how internal political processes affect states' behavior toward other states, while courses in comparative politics highlight the importance of transnational forces for understanding what goes on within a country's borders. One of the four themes that we use to analyze comparative politics, the "globalizing world of states," emphasizes the interaction of domestic and international forces in the politics of all nations.

It still makes sense to maintain the distinction between comparative politics and international relations. Much of the world's political activity continues to occur within national borders, and comparisons of domestic politics, institutions, and



5

Focus Questions 🕅

- What do we mean by globalization?
- How does increased cross-border contact among countries and peoples affect political, social, and cultural life?

comparative politics

The field within political science that focuses on domestic politics and analyzes patterns of similarity and difference among countries.

globalization

The intensification of worldwide interconnectedness associated with the increased speed and magnitude of cross-border flows of trade, investment and finance, and processes of migration, cultural diffusion, and communication. processes enable us to understand critical features that distinguish one country's politics from another's. Furthermore, we believe that, despite increased international economic competition and integration (a key aspect of **globalization**), countries are still the fundamental building blocks in structuring most political activity. Therefore, *Introduction to Comparative Politics* is built on in-depth case studies of a sample of important countries around the world.

The comparative approach principally analyzes similarities and differences among countries by focusing on selected political institutions and processes. As students of comparative politics (we call ourselves **comparativists**), we believe that we cannot make reliable statements about most political situations by looking at only one case.

THE INTERNET AND THE STUDY OF COMPARATIVE POLITICS

The Internet can be a rich source of information about the politics of countries around the world. Following are some of the types of information you can find on the Web. We haven't included URLs since they change so often. But you should be able to find the websites easily through a key word search on Google or another search engine.

- Current events. Most of the world's major news organizations have excellent websites. Among those we recommend for students of comparative politics are the British Broadcasting Corporation (BBC), Cable News Network (CNN), the New York Times, and the Washington Post.
- Elections. Results of recent (and often past) elections, data on voter turnout, and descriptions of different types of electoral systems can be found at the International Election Guide (IFES), Elections by Country/Wikipedia, and the International Institute for Democracy and Electoral Assistance.
- Statistics. You can find data helpful both for understanding the political, economic, and social situations in individual countries and for comparing countries. Excellent sources of statistics are the Central Intelligence Agency (CIA), United Nations Development Program (UNDP), and World Bank*.

There are many websites that bring together data from other sources. These enable you not only to access the statistics, but also to chart or map them in a variety of ways. See, for example, nationmaster.com and gapminder.com.

 Rankings and ratings. Many organizations provide rankings or ratings of countries along some dimension based on comparative statistical analysis. We provide the following examples of these in the data that appear at the end of this chapter: the UNDP Human Development Index (HDI); the Global Gender Gap; the Environmental Performance Index; the Corruption Perceptions Index; and the Freedom in the World rating. Others you might consult are the UNDP's Gender-Related Development Index (GDI) and Gender Empowerment Measure (GEM); the World Bank's Worldwide Governance Indicators Project; the Index of Economic Freedom; and the Press Freedom Index. A note of caution: Some of these sites may have a political perspective that influences the way they collect and analyze data. As with any Web source, be sure to check out who sponsors the site and what type of organization it is.

- Official information and documents. Most governments maintain websites in English. The first place to look is the website of the country's embassy in Washington, D.C., Ottawa, or London. The United Nations delegations of many countries also have websites. Governments often have English-language versions of their official home pages, including governments with which the United States does not have official relations, such as Cuba and North Korea.
- The United States Department of State. The State Department's website has background notes on most countries. American embassies around the world provide information on selected topics about the country in which they are based.
- Maps. The Perry-Castañeda Library Map Collection at the University of Texas is probably the best currently available online source of worldwide maps at an educational institution.
- General comparative politics. Several American and British universities host excellent websites that provide links to a multitude of Internet resources on comparative politics (often coupled with international relations), such as Columbia University, Emory University, Keele University (UK), Princeton University, and Vanderbilt University. Do a search for "comparative politics resources" with the university name to get to these websites.

MAKING CONNECTIONS How has easy access to the Internet changed the way you do research? Is there a down side?

*Definitions of key terms in this boxed feature appear in the Glossary, which begins on p. 697.

We often hear statements such as: "The United States has the best health care system in the world." Comparativists immediately wonder what kinds of health care systems exist in other countries, what they cost and how they are financed, how it is decided who can receive medical care, how effectively they deliver health care to their citizens, and so on. As we know from the ongoing controversies over the Affordable Care Act, there is little agreement about what "the Best" means when it comes to health care systems. Is it the one that provides the widest access? The one that is the most technologically advanced? The one that is the most cost effective? The one that produces the healthiest population?

None of us would declare the winner for best picture at the Academy Awards without seeing more than one—and even better, all—of the nominated movies! Shouldn't we be as critically minded and engaged when we are comparing and evaluating critical public policy issues decisions?

Some comparativists focus on comparing government institutions, such as the legislature, executive, political parties, or court systems, in different countries.² Others compare specific political processes, such as voting or policies on a particular issue, for example, education or the environment.³ Some comparative political studies take a thematic approach and analyze broad topics, such as the causes and consequences of nationalist movements or revolutions in different countries.⁴ Comparative studies may also involve comparisons of an institution, policy, or process through time, in one or several countries. For example, some studies have analyzed a shift in the orientation of economic policy that occurred in many advanced capitalist countries in the 1980s from Keynesianism, an approach that gives priority to government regulation of the economy, to neoliberalism, which emphasizes the importance of market-friendly policies.⁵ And many comparativists study politics within a single country, often within a framework that draws on similarities and differences with other countries.⁶

Level of Analysis

Comparisons can be useful for political analysis at several different levels of a country, such as cities, regions, provinces, or states. A good way to begin the study of comparative politics is with **countries**. Countries are distinct, politically defined territories that encompass governments, composed of political institutions, as well as cultures, economies, and collective identities. Although countries are often highly divided by internal conflicts, people within their borders may have close ties to those in other countries, and business firms based in one country may have operations in many others. Countries have historically been among the most important sources of a people's collective political identity. They are the major arena for organized political action in the modern world.

Within a given country, the **state** is almost always the most powerful cluster of institutions. But just what is the state? The way the term is used in comparative politics is probably unfamiliar to many students. In the United States, it usually refers to the states in the federal system—California, Illinois, New York, Texas, and so on. But in comparative politics, the state refers to the key political institutions responsible for making, implementing, and adjudicating important policies in a country. Thus, we refer to the "German state" and the "Mexican state." The state is synonymous with what is often called the "government," or in the United States, the "administration." The state also implies a more durable entity. Governments may come and go, but the institutions that comprise the state generally endure (unless overthrown from within or conquered by other states in war).

comparativist

A political scientist who studies the similarities and differences in the domestic politics of various countries.

Keynesianism

Named after the British economist John Maynard Keynes, an approach to economic policy in which state economic policies are used to regulate the economy in an attempt to achieve stable economic growth.

During a recession, state budget deficits are used to expand demand in an effort to boost both consumption and investment, and to create employment. During periods of high growth when inflation threatens, cuts in government spending and a tightening of credit are used to reduce demand.

neoliberalism

A term used to describe government policies aiming to promote free competition among business firms within the market, including reduced governmental regulation and social spending.

country

A territory defined by boundaries generally recognized in international law as constituting an independent country.

state

The most powerful political institutions in a country, including the executive, legislative, and judicial branches of government, the police, and armed forces.

Copyright 2016 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s). Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.

executive

The agencies of government that implement or execute policy.

cabinet

The body of officials (e.g., ministers, secretaries) who direct executive departments presided over by the chief executive (e.g., prime minister, president).

bureaucracy

An organization structured hierarchically, in which lower-level officials are charged with administering regulations codified in rules that specify impersonal, objective guidelines for making decisions.

legislature

One of the primary political institutions in a country, in which elected or appointed members are charged with responsibility for making laws and usually for authorizing expenditure of the financial resources for the state to carry out its functions.

judiciary

One of the primary political institutions in a country; responsible for the administration of justice and in some countries for determining the constitutionality of state decisions.

legitimacy

A belief by powerful groups and the broad citizenry that a state exercises rightful authority. The most important state institutions are the **executive**—usually, the president and/or prime minister and the **cabinet**. Other key state institutions include the military, police, and **bureaucracy**. In some countries, the executive includes the communist party leadership (such as in China), the head of a military government (as in Nigeria until 1999), or the supreme religious leader (as in the Islamic Republic of Iran). Alongside the executive, the **legislature** and the **judiciary** comprise the institutional apex of state power. The inter-relationships and functions of these institutions vary from country to country and through time within countries.

States claim, usually, but not always with considerable success, the right to make rules-notably, laws, administrative regulations, and court decisions-that are binding for people within the country. Even democratic states—in which top officials are chosen by procedures that authorize all citizens to participate—can survive only if they can preserve dominance internally and protect their independence with regard to other states and external groups that may threaten them. Many countries have highly repressive states whose political survival depends largely on military and police powers. Even in such states, however, long-term stability requires that the ruling regime have some measure of political legitimacy; that is, the support of a significant segment of the citizenry (in particular, more influential citizens and groups) who believe that the state is entitled to demand compliance. Political legitimacy is greatly affected by the state's ability to "deliver the goods" to its people through satisfactory economic performance and at least a minimum distribution of economic resources. Moreover, as the upheavals in the Arab world in 2011 dramatized, legitimacy is much more secure when there is some measure of democracy.

Thus, *Introduction to Comparative Politics* looks closely at both the state's role in governing the economy and the pressures exerted on states to develop and extend democratic participation.

You will see from the country chapters in this book that the organization of state institutions varies widely, and that these differences have a powerful impact on political, economic, and social life. Therefore, we devote considerable attention to institutional variations, along with their political implications. Each country study begins with an analysis of how the state has evolved historically; that is, state formation. One critical difference among states involves the extent to which citizens in a country share a common sense of nationhood; that is, a belief that the state's geographic boundaries coincide with the political identity of the people who live within those boundaries, what can be described as a sense of solidarity and shared values based on being citizens of the same country. When state boundaries and national identity coincide, the resulting formation is called a nation-state. A major source of political instability can occur when state boundaries and national identity do not coincide. In many countries around the world, nationalist movements within a state's borders challenge existing boundaries and seek to secede to form their own state, sometimes in alliance with movements from neighboring countries with whom they claim to share a common heritage. Such is the case with the Kurds, an ethnic group whose members live in Turkey, Syria, and Iraq. Many groups of Kurds have fought to establish an independent nation-state of Kurdistan. When a nationalist movement has distinctive ethnic, religious, and/or linguistic ties opposed to those of other groups in the country, conflicts are likely to be especially intense. India and Nigeria, for example, have experienced particularly violent episodes of what has been termed ethnonationalist conflict. Tibet is an example of ethnic conflict within a country, China, whose population otherwise has a strong sense of national identity.



Young people were at the forefront of the democracy movements that shook the Middle East and North Africa in 2011.

Yahya arhab/epa/Landov

Causal Theories

Because countries are the basic building blocks in politics and because states are the most significant political organizations within countries, these are two critical units for comparative analysis. The comparativist seeks to measure and explain similarities and differences among countries or states. One widely used approach in doing such comparative analysis involves developing **causal theories**—hypotheses that can be expressed formally in a causal mode: "If X happens, then Y will be the result." Such theories include factors (the **independent variables**, symbolized by X) that are believed to influence some outcome (the **dependent variable**, symbolized by Y) that the analyst wants to explain.

For example, it is commonly argued that if a country's economic pie shrinks, conflict among groups will intensify. This hypothesis claims what is called an inverse correlation between variables: as X varies in one direction (the economic pie shrinks), Y varies in the opposite direction (political and economic conflict over the economic pie increases). This relationship might be tested by statistical analysis of a large number of cases (Large N Analysis) or by analyzing one or several country cases in depth to determine how relevant relationships have varied historically (Small N Analysis). Even when the explanation does not involve the explicit testing of hypotheses (and often it does not), comparativists try to identify significant patterns that help explain political similarities and differences among countries.

It is important to recognize the limits on just how "scientific" political science and thus comparative politics—can be. Two important differences exist between the "hard" (or natural) sciences like physics and chemistry and the social sciences. First, social scientists study people who exercise their political will and may act in an

state formation

The historical development of a state, often marked by major stages, key events, or turning points (critical junctures) that influence the contemporary character of the state.

q

nation-state

A country in which the state and national identity coincide.

causal theories

An influential approach in comparative politics that involves trying to explain why "if X happens, then Y is the result."

independent variable

The variable symbolized by X in the statement that "If X happens, then Y will be the result"; in other words, the independent variable is a cause of Y (the dependent variable).

dependent variable

The variable symbolized by Y in the statement that "If X happens, then Y will be the result"; in other words, the dependent variable is the outcome of X (the independent variable).